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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

          3  much for being here, good afternoon.  I would like

          4  to welcome all of you today to the hearing of the

          5  Committee of Cultural Affairs, Libraries, and

          6  International Intergroup Relations.  My name is

          7  Council Member Jose Serrano, I am the Chair of the

          8  Committee.

          9                 We are here to hear testimony

         10  regarding proposed Resolution 604- A.  This

         11  Resolution 604- A is a resolution honoring the

         12  memory of over 400 Colonial Era remains of Africans

         13  uncovered during 1991 in Lower Manhattan, and

         14  calling upon the United States General Services

         15  Administration to immediately re- enter the remains

         16  of the 427 Africans that were unearthed to construct

         17  a museum and memorial plague to honor the historic

         18  and vitally important African Burial Ground.

         19                 Before we begin, I would like to

         20  recognize my colleague, Council Member Charles

         21  Barron for his tireless leadership on this issue for

         22  more than 10 years.  The subject of today's hearing

         23  is just located steps away from City Hall at the

         24  corner of Duane and Oak Streets.  The African Burial

         25  Ground was rediscovered in 1991 during excavation
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          2  for the construction of the Federal Courthouse

          3  located on Broadway.  The rediscovered burial

          4  grounds located on the northern end of what

          5  historians advise us is a five- acre, 18th Century

          6  cemetery in which over 20,000 people were buried.

          7  The African Burial Ground was together with the

          8  neighboring commons designated a Historic District

          9  by the Landmarks Preservation Commission on February

         10  25th, 1993.

         11                 At the time of the 1991 excavation,

         12  the remains of over 400 African- Americans were

         13  discovered and disinterred, and to this date,

         14  reaming at Howard University.  The historic cultural

         15  and archeological significance of the burial grounds

         16  cannot be overstated.  At the same time, we must

         17  remember that the African Burial Grounds was the

         18  resting place of more than 400 human beings whose

         19  remains were and remain disinterred.

         20                 The Federal General Services

         21  Administration was charged with the administration

         22  of the African Burial Grounds. Proposed Resolution

         23  604- A calls for the GSA to reenter the remains of

         24  these individuals to establish a proper memorial at

         25  the African American Burial Ground, and to construct
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          2  the museum commemorating the African- American

          3  Burial Ground.

          4                 At this time, I would like to

          5  recognize my colleagues from the Committee who have

          6  joined me today.  To my right, Council Member Philip

          7  Reed from Harlem in the Bronx, and other members who

          8  will be coming in shortly.

          9                 We have many witnesses here today,

         10  and witnesses should, as always, sign in with the

         11  Sergeant- At- Arms if they would like to give

         12  testimony.  At this time, I would like to turn the

         13  microphone over to my colleague Charles Barron who

         14  has been a tremendous voice an advocate for making

         15  sure that this moves through.  He, along with the

         16  rest of the City Council recognize the cultural and

         17  historic importance of the African Burial Grounds,

         18  and I am just so happy that he continues to shine a

         19  very important spotlight onto this issue so that we

         20  can move it forward in the best way.

         21                 Council Member Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well thank

         23  you very much, Chairman Serrano.  I want to command

         24  you and the Committee for expediting and seeing the

         25  urgency and the importance of bringing this
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          2  resolution forward for a hearing, so that we can

          3  eventually, or perhaps get a vote on it, and get it

          4  out of Committee and get it to the full Council.

          5                 I think as the Chairman has stated in

          6  his opening remarks, this is a story, it is not just

          7  a resolution without meat, this is a story of a

          8  people, of an African people who literally built the

          9  infrastructure of New York City, who paved the

         10  roads, who built the homes, who cultivated the land

         11  for the European Colonizes so they could eat.  This

         12  is a story of a people who built the wall that they

         13  now call Wall Street.

         14                 New York was considered a free state,

         15  and the contradiction of this free state is that it

         16  had slaves from 1625 to 1827.  And for the federal

         17  government to disrespect the Burial Ground of our

         18  African ancestors is unconscionable.  And Ms. Ollie

         19  McClean and Ms. Dicks is here form the Committee of

         20  the Descendants of the African Ancestry Burial

         21  Grounds, they have been on this issue since I can

         22  remember when it first started.  And we have been

         23  fighting to get the Government Service

         24  Administrations to give us a properly reburial.  As

         25  a matter of fact, archaeologists already informed
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          2  those that were excavating that this was an African,

          3  Ancient African Burial Ground and it should not be

          4  touched.  And they went ahead and did it anyway.

          5                 We went to Washington, D.C. And we

          6  visited the archaeologists that were researching the

          7  bones, the remains, they said they are finished,

          8  they have been finished since 1998, there is nothing

          9  else to be researched.  We are the most researched

         10  people in the world, I do not know if there is

         11  anything else they do not know about us.  I think it

         12  was thoroughly researched, so that could not be the

         13  reason why we are not reburying the artifacts and

         14  the bones the remains.  And it is just a story over

         15  half of the remains are young people, some are

         16  teenagers.  And when you see the vertebral columns

         17  that are bent, they literally worked our people to

         18  death.  And this is not a, you know, reparations is

         19  another issue, that is what should happen, but we

         20  are just talking about a proper reburying of our

         21  ancestral remains.

         22                 And we struggle with GSA, and we

         23  actually got GSA to start digging the graves.  There

         24  are seven graves dug.  They went to Ghana and Africa

         25  and bought little caskets, they were purchasing
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          2  crypts, seven crypts that would have 49 caskets in

          3  each one.  We had a date for it, I believe it was

          4  August 17th, 2000.  Marcus Garvey's birthday,

          5  everything was set in place, and all of a sudden out

          6  of nowhere it was blocked, it was stopped.  This was

          7  before Ground Zero.

          8                 And I might add that it is

          9  disrespectful to talk about Ground Zero being a

         10  sacred ground and the redevelopment of Lower

         11  Manhattan, and to totally ignore the African Burial

         12  Ground. So as Lower Manhattan is rebuilt, then they

         13  should include in that the African Burial Ground.

         14  Because just as Ground Zero is sacred to the Lower

         15  Manhattan Developers, so is our ancestor burial

         16  ground sacred to us.  And as the redevelopment of

         17  Lower Manhattan takes place, this museum, the proper

         18  reburying of our ancestors, and a proper memorial on

         19  that site must be considered in these plans, and

         20  must be done immediately.  We have been ignored long

         21  enough.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair, I appreciate

         23  it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member Barron.  Well said.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Can I just --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Sure, go right

          4  ahead.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I am sorry, I

          6  just wanted to add one thing, we really thank

          7  Borough President C. Virginia Fields for pulling us

          8  together and working with us on this.  We have had

          9  meetings in her office, and we really appreciate you

         10  for bringing this issue to the fore with us, and

         11  working with us to see to it that it gets the

         12  respect, the consideration that is so rightfully

         13  deserves.  So thank you for your work on this.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

         15  Council member.  At this point, I would like to ask

         16  the Borough President from Manhattan, C. Virginia

         17  Fields to come up to the microphone there to give us

         18  her testimony, and I would like to thank you, Madam

         19  Borough President for your leadership on this issue.

         20    The Committee is very grateful to you for all of

         21  your leadership and insights on this. You may begin.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS:  Thank you,

         23  thank you so much, Mr. Chairman.  I am C. Virginia

         24  Fields, the President of the Borough of Manhattan,

         25  and to Chairman Serrano and members of the Committee
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          2  on Cultural Affairs, Libraries, and International

          3  Intergroups Relations, I am delighted to come

          4  before.  And I want to thank you, Council Member

          5  Barron for moving this issue forward within a

          6  legislative body of the City.  And to my good

          7  friend, Council Member Phil Reed for his support

          8  every step of the way as we have started working

          9  together on this.

         10                 Before I begin my testimony, I also

         11  want to thank the member of the Committee, the

         12  Descendants Committee who have been working for the

         13  past 10 or 15 years, they have been bringing us to

         14  the port, where we now are able to stand on their

         15  shoulders and move even further with them, the

         16  certain bodies that we represent.  So this has been

         17  a story, but it is a story also worth telling, and a

         18  story worth pursuing, and one that you should be

         19  drawing a conclusion to ourselves, and that is why I

         20  am delighted to be here with you today.

         21                 Now I want to thank the Chairman and

         22  say that I fully support Council Member Barron's

         23  Resolution 604, which calls upon the federal

         24  government, the State and the City to memorialize

         25  this historic and vitally important African Burial
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          2  Ground located here and in Lower Manhattan.  I

          3  wholeheartedly support this resolution and urge the

          4  Council to approve it.

          5                 A proper and respectfully resolution

          6  of the unsettled matter of the African Burial Ground

          7  has troubled many of us in elective office over many

          8  years.

          9                 We are not alone, anthropologists and

         10  historians, and most important of all our

         11  constituents and the descendants of the Africans

         12  whose remains still rest in their original interment

         13  site, all seek appropriate closure.

         14                 I join them in requesting that the

         15  General Services Administration Act expeditiously to

         16  re- inter the 400 or so bodies originally exhumed

         17  during the excavation for the federal building.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Could you hold

         19  on one moment, because I think what you are saying

         20  is extremely important, and there seems to be some

         21  technical problems and distraction.  And if you do

         22  not mind, Mr. Chair,

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I am

         24  recording.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Is it working?
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          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I am

          3  recording, but evidently they are not receiving, but

          4  I am recording.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Okay, can we

          6  rectify that?

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes, there has

          8  got to be a short somewhere.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  I do apologize

         10  Madam Borough President for the technical

         11  difficulties.  Is the media, are you all set now.

         12  Okay, I do apologize, if you could begin again.

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS:  Chairman

         14  Serrano, Members of the Committee of Cultural

         15  Affairs, Libraries, and International Intergroup

         16  Relations, Council Member Barron, ladies and

         17  gentlemen, good afternoon.

         18                 I want to thank the Chairman and the

         19  Committee for holding this hearing on Council Member

         20  Charles Barron's Resolution 604, which calls upon

         21  the federal government, the State and City to

         22  memorialize this historic and vitally important

         23  African Burial Ground located in Lower Manhattan.  I

         24  wholeheartedly support this resolution and urge the

         25  Council to approve it.

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 A proper and respectfully resolution

          3  of the unsettled matter of the African burial Ground

          4  has troubled many of us in elective office over many

          5  years.

          6                 We are not alone, anthropologists and

          7  historians, and most important of all our

          8  constituents and the descendants of the Africans

          9  whose remains still rest in their original interment

         10  site, all seek appropriate closure.

         11                 I join them in requesting that the

         12  General Services Administration Act expeditiously to

         13  re- inter the 400 or so bodies originally exhumed

         14  during the excavation for the federal building.

         15                 Now, we understand that some bodies

         16  were sent to Howard University for study, and we are

         17  gratified that a great deal of unique and useful

         18  information has already resulted.

         19                 We also understand that a majority of

         20  the artifacts that were disinterred from the Burial

         21  Ground had been in the possession of the GSA Office

         22  of Public Education and Interpretation located in 6

         23  World Trade Center.  Hopefully, these artifacts have

         24  been properly stored and catalogued.  We believe it

         25  would be appropriate for them to be included in the
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          2  re- interment.

          3                 We would urge the GSA to re- inter

          4  all 400 of the formerly exhumed bodies, and to

          5  complete this work by the end of this year, to help

          6  the heirs find some sense of closure.

          7                 Next, I should like to address the

          8  Memorandum of Agreement of March 15th, 1989, among

          9  the advisory Council on historic preservation,

         10  (ACHP), the GSA and the State Historic Preservation

         11  Office.

         12  This MOA was amended in December of 1991, to add the

         13  City Landmarks Preservation Commissioner as a

         14  signatory.

         15                 On of the principal points in the

         16  amended agreement requires GSA to submit quarterly

         17  reports to the each and to the Landmarks

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 Regrettably, this reporting

         20  requirement has not been done on a consistent basis.

         21    I recommend that it be re- emphasized, as a way

         22  for all responsible and interested parties to be

         23  kept current on activities affecting the African-

         24  American Burial Ground.

         25  The amended MOA also calls for public involvement.
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          2  This would enable the Many descendants as well as

          3  elected officials, anthropologists, and all

          4  interested parties to comment on GSA's, and I

          5  quoted, "Plans for analysis and reburial of remains

          6  and associated grave goods..." Prior to making a

          7  final planning decision.

          8                 Once these mechanisms for regular

          9  reporting and public involvement are honored, they

         10  will lay the groundwork for the establishment of a

         11  magnificent, state- of- the- art African American

         12  Memorial Museum Complex.

         13                 The benefits of such a complex, I

         14  believe, would be manifold.  A museum of this

         15  magnitude would be an instant tourist attraction.

         16  It would be a significant factor in the major

         17  revitalization effort now underway in Lower

         18  Manhattan.  And even more important, it would be a

         19  way of continuing to tell the story that Council

         20  Member Barron talked about for generations to come,

         21  for young people to know their history, to know what

         22  happened here in Lower Manhattan, the trials and the

         23  tribulations of those who are buried there and what

         24  that has meant throughout our life.

         25                 Beyond that, its scientific value
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          2  would be unique and unparalleled.  This museum

          3  complex would house a repository for DNA research

          4  for descendants of the Africans buried here, as well

          5  as Africans from all over the world.

          6                 You know how proud Africans are of

          7  their roots. Imagine the thrill of recognition and

          8  connection going back through generations and over

          9  centuries.  We must commit to this exciting venture,

         10  and we must start now.

         11                 Lastly, there is one other commitment

         12  we must make to those interred in the African Burial

         13  Ground.  We must make sure, as a sign of respect and

         14  honor, that no building be constructed on the

         15  present site at Elk and Duane Streets.  This is,

         16  indeed, sacred and hallowed ground, and as such, it

         17  cannot and must not be disrespected.

         18                 And so, I thank you, again, Mr.

         19  Chairman and member of the Committee, for holding

         20  this hearing.  I believe that this is an idea whose

         21  time has come and gone all too often.  But now that

         22  it has come again, we have an opportunity for

         23  greatness and tribute to people who helped build our

         24  City and the their descendants, and to all of us, as

         25  well as to all New Yorkers.
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          2                 Thank you, and let us not allow this

          3  moment to pass. Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

          5  Madam Borough President.  You have been a tremendous

          6  champion on this issue, you and your staff at your

          7  office have been working on this for many, many

          8  years.

          9                 There is tremendous cultural,

         10  historical, and quite frankly a respect issue that

         11  is of great concern to the members of this

         12  Committee, and to the members of the City Council,

         13  that a City that is very forthcoming and

         14  memorializing the cultural and historical

         15  significance of so many different places throughout

         16  the City.  Yet, we have here one of the most

         17  significant, archeological finds that New York City

         18  has ever come across, yet, it has not received in my

         19  estimation the amount of respect that it should

         20  have.  And in your workings with all the parties

         21  involved, what have you found to be the biggest

         22  obstacle for moving this forward for you and your

         23  staff?

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS:  Well, we,

         25  very actively working, began working with Council
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          2  Member Barron, and Council Member Gerson over match

          3  in the latter part of last year.

          4                 You know I think a number of factors

          5  probably have attributed to it, including changes in

          6  Administration because this is going on now probably

          7  through three Administrations here in this city, and

          8  through three Administrations in Washington, D.C.

          9  And each time there has a been a stop and start up,

         10  it never quite got to the next level.  That is why I

         11  think what you are doing here today is so incredibly

         12  important, because I think we have the ability now

         13  here in the City to move to the next level.

         14                 As I said, in my reaching out to GSA,

         15  I must say they have been very responsive, and I

         16  think that is a real breakthrough in terms of our

         17  now being ready to move forward.  So, without having

         18  paid so much attention to factors that interfered, I

         19  am pushing forward to the higher ground now to make

         20  sure that we get to the next level, began in this

         21  year with the re- interment and then from there the

         22  memorial and ultimately a museum.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Now the GSA has

         24  provided you with a timeline for this project.  Am I

         25  correct in that?
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS:  Well they

          3  talked generally about the time line and the

          4  information that I think we have all been given in

          5  terms of the re- interment certainly taking place

          6  this year.  And a meeting, an informational meeting,

          7  and discussion will take place this month to further

          8  outline the dates and the steps that are being taken

          9  so far.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

         11  much.  At this point, I would like, before I turn it

         12  over to Council Member Philip Reed, I would like to

         13  mention that we have been joined by Council Member

         14  David Weprin from Queens, a member of this

         15  Committee, as well as Council Member Domenic

         16  Recchia, who is also a member of this Committed.

         17                 Council Member Phil Reed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chair.  I certainly want to thank Council

         20  Member Barron for raising this issue, and I feel

         21  that I have to apologize because I guess I have just

         22  not been paying enough attention to the frustration

         23  that people have felt about this.  And I am feeling

         24  like I was not on the case.  So I appreciate that

         25  the Borough President is here in laying out this
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          2  frustration is causing me to have some anger about

          3  what is happening here.  But I know we are trying to

          4  move forward today by putting this resolution, but I

          5  also want to thank you for the commitment that you

          6  have shown.

          7                 I think there is, there is a level of

          8  disrespect that I do not think a lot of other

          9  communities would have received, nor do I think they

         10  would have accepted.  So, I certainly appreciate you

         11  and Council Member Barron and the Chair for moving

         12  this forward, and I will recommit myself to lending

         13  whatever support your leadership and my colleagues

         14  to making sure that we do this right.

         15                 I think that, you know, we are in the

         16  midst of so many different celebrations here in New

         17  York constantly, and you certainly, your

         18  representation of what it is that we have been asked

         19  to do down at Ground Zero in this sort of whole

         20  redevelopment of Downtown.  Well it does provide us

         21  with the opportunity to tell the story of Downtown

         22  Manhattan.  And I do not hold anybody to blame,

         23  because they have not been told, this story has not

         24  been properly told.  So you cannot blame other

         25  people in New York who just do not know, and I think

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  who would be equally outraged to know this.  But it

          3  does provide us with an opportunity.

          4                 I happened to have gone to Ghana in

          5  February, and it was my first trip to Africa and

          6  experienced the same overwhelming sense that you

          7  have when you visit the castles, the forts, Cape

          8  Coast and in a crowd where they sold our relatives.

          9  And it is impossible to have had that experience,

         10  whether you are African American, or anything else,

         11  and not understand that this was 300 years of

         12  slavery.  And yes, some of us were culpable in that

         13  trade. But this was very much what the City of New

         14  York is all about, commerce.  And that in and of

         15  itself is what sort of makes us sit back because

         16  that is what this was, it was a business, but it was

         17  a business in human lives.

         18                 And so I do not think that we can

         19  ignore the necessity to put those bones back, put

         20  those people to rest.  At the same time, they have

         21  asked us to quench, quell our anger, our

         22  frustrations now that somehow seem to never been

         23  resolved as we look at what budget cuts are coming

         24  to this generation of African descendants.

         25                 So I pledge again my support in
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          2  moving forward to make sure this happens.  But

          3  connecting it also, and I remember that that the

          4  disparagement with which we were received by the

          5  previous Parks Commissioner when we were looking at

          6  the issue of Cenical (phonetic) Village, and this

          7  reminds me that this is the 150th Anniversary of

          8  Central Park.  In fact, I was at a press conference

          9  last week with the Mayor and Central Park

         10  Conservancy, and the Borough President joined us.

         11  And I think we should also take that opportunity to

         12  reminded them that we need, we were not properly

         13  respected as the people who built the City.  Cenical

         14  Village, for many of you who do not know, was an

         15  African village, town in around 85th Street and

         16  Central Park West, and actually it was sort of an

         17  integrated community, because the Irish people lived

         18  there as well, and they were moved off of that site

         19  for the development of Central Park.

         20                 But when we tried to get that

         21  memorialized and recognized, I do not know, Lusa, I

         22  have been out there, I cannot find the little plaque

         23  they have stuck up.  Can you find it?

         24                 And so, you know, being a part of

         25  this Committee, and also being the Council member
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          2  that represents that part of town, I am going to

          3  make sure we get that done.

          4                 So I just want to thank everybody,

          5  particularly, Charles, who people criticize, but I

          6  think he is on point.

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS:  Yes, and I

          8  just want to add Councilman to something that you

          9  said, because as I have been talking about this

         10  museum and I made it a centerpiece of my State of

         11  Borough, the amazement of so many people to hear

         12  about the fact that over 20,000 bodies are, in fact,

         13  buried here in Lower Manhattan.  We are only talking

         14  about the 400 that were exhumed for the purpose of

         15  further research in Washington.  But when you think

         16  about and discuss the fact that over 20,000 bodies

         17  were actually buried down here in Lower Manhattan,

         18  and there has not been to date a proper memorial or

         19  museum to highlight for purposes of telling the

         20  story, educating, and making everyone aware of what

         21  happened and the role that those Africans played,

         22  and it is so important to the whole history,

         23  obviously, of slavery.

         24                 The fact that that has not been done,

         25  I agree with you is unconscionable, and that is why
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          2  it is incumbent I think upon all of us to make sure

          3  that the work that the members of this Committee,

          4  and that is why I applaud them for a long time that

          5  they have been out there on this road and keeping

          6  this alive.  And now it is time to go to the next

          7  level.  And for that, I  thank all of you.

          8                 Regrettably, I must leave due to a

          9  two o'clock that I had, but wanted to come by here

         10  to make sure that I, you know, added my voice to the

         11  wonderful work you are doing on this issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Before you

         13  leave, I just wanted to, once again, reiterate our

         14  appreciation for the work that you are doing on this

         15  issue, and for your acknowledgement of the Committed

         16  of the Descendants, particularly, Ms. Dicks and Ms.

         17  Ollie McClean.  They have, and Council Member Reed,

         18  I think you really expressed it well the anger that

         19  we have experienced over the years that we were

         20  struggling with GSA and the amount of disrespect

         21  that they have shoed for our community has just been

         22  unbelievable.

         23                 And I think, as much as people may

         24  say I am militant and this and that, I have been

         25  rather restrained on this one considering the level
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          2  of respect, disrespect that we have received.

          3                 So I want to thank you for not only

          4  the content of what you have shared, but the, you

          5  can connect without anger and frustration over this

          6  kind of, and this would not happen with no other

          7  people, I do not think they would do this to any

          8  other people, and we sit and talking about this

          9  development Downtown, and you hear nothing of it.

         10  Even I had to sit in celebrations of the City

         11  Council over when it first started and everybody was

         12  happy and they are giving out the sandwiches and

         13  stuff and taking pictures and the big cake and all

         14  of that on New York, and when I raise the question,

         15  how could you be sitting here talking about, and had

         16  the nerve to have one of the Ambassador from the

         17  Dutch, you know, Embassy come and talk and

         18  everything, and still- -  We will let you go, Madam

         19  President, you know, because I know I am getting

         20  carried away here.  But to have a person from the

         21  Dutch Consulate come and be at the New York

         22  Celebration, and these were our former slave

         23  masters, and they start giggling about the name New

         24  Amsterdam, and then the English who came in 1664 and

         25  were even more cruel than the Dutch, and none of
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          2  that is mentioned, I cannot even fathom something

          3  like that happening to anybody else.

          4                 And so when you see us acting out on

          5  stuff like that, believe me, it is restraint and

          6  justified.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

          9  Charles.  You have always been a very strong voice

         10  for social justice in the City, and keep doing what

         11  you are doing, because you are bringing to light a

         12  lot of the issues that for too long have gone

         13  unattended.

         14                 I would like to mention that we have

         15  been joined by Council Member Tracy Boyland, a

         16  member of this Committee.

         17                 And at this point, I would like to

         18  call up the next panel, Arana Hankin on behalf of

         19  Senator David A. Paterson, Ollie McClean, Committee

         20  of Descendants, as well as Ayo Harrington, Friends

         21  of the African Burial Grounds.  All three can come

         22  up and testify.

         23                 If anyone else who is here in the

         24  audience who plans on giving testimony, please fill

         25  out one of these forms with the Sergeant- At- Arms.
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          2                 Also, Ms. Eloise Dicks.

          3                 MS. HANKIN:  I do not know where Ayo

          4  Harrington is, but I am going to start.  Thank you

          5  very much.  My name is Arana Hankin, I am

          6  representing Senator David Paterson, the new

          7  Democratic Leader of the New York State Senate.

          8  Unfortunately, he is in Albany right now, trying to

          9  fight hard to get a fair budget passed.  But I want

         10  to thank the Council, Councilman Barron, I want to

         11  thank C. Virginia Fields, the Borough President for

         12  rallying this issue back to the forefront.  And

         13  especially the descendants groups who has kept this

         14  momentum strong over the years, and kept this issue

         15  in the forefront of memorializing the African Burial

         16  Ground Projects.

         17                 I am going to read this short

         18  testimony on behalf of the Senator.

         19                 In his 18 years, Senator Paterson has

         20  served as a New York State Senator, he believes that

         21  his greatest achievement was being a part of the

         22  effort to memorialize the African Burial Ground.

         23  For Senator Paterson it is an honor to be part of

         24  this process that will educate people throughout the

         25  world about an aspect of New York City history that
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          2  many people overlook, slavery.

          3                 The discovery of the African Burial

          4  Ground has revealed the brutal truth about slavery

          5  in New York City.  There are over 10,000 Africans

          6  and African- Americans buried below these streets

          7  whose memory has been forgotten.  They gave their

          8  lives to build this City and a proper

          9  memorialization still does not exist.

         10                 Today, Senator Paterson stands in

         11  solidarity with the groups and individuals who are

         12  represented here today in an effort to push for the

         13  expeditious reburial of all the remains that were

         14  unearthed from the African Burial Ground.

         15                 Secondly, Senator Paterson calls for,

         16  along with the other groups represented here for the

         17  General Services Administration to adhere to the

         18  Memorandum of Agreement that was signed back in

         19  1991.  There were a number of things that were laid

         20  out in this MOA, as is often referred to, that were

         21  not adhered to.

         22                 The main point that was not adhered

         23  to is that the public has not been given the right

         24  to contribute to their reburial plans that GSA has

         25  laid out.  They have gone ahead with these burial
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          2  plans without consulting with the community, without

          3  consulting with the elected officials, and we are

          4  asking right now, we are pleading, we are demanding

          5  that they include the community and all elected

          6  officials who are interested in seeing this project

          7  come to fruition in the reburial planning process.

          8                 In addition, GSA has done an

          9  extremely poor job of communicating their progress

         10  with interested groups and elected officials.  They

         11  have not sent out any reports, they have failed to

         12  phone elected officials and the descendant groups,

         13  they have not sent out the press releases to all of

         14  the groups that have been fighting hard to get the

         15  proper memorial for the burial grounds.

         16                 In addition, we demand the GSA hold a

         17  public forums on a quarterly basis to discuss their

         18  reburial and the memorialization plans.  It is

         19  imperative that community is involved in this

         20  process and notified of GSA's progress.  Senator

         21  Paterson stand in solidarity to make certain that

         22  these requests are adhered to and that all remains

         23  from the African Burial Ground are reburied as soon

         24  as possible.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you, you

          3  may begin.

          4                 MS. MCCLEAN:  My name is Ollie

          5  McClean, and I would like to begin by thanking the

          6  City Council for their interest and for this hearing

          7  along with our Borough President C. Virginia Fields.

          8    I am truly grateful that it is getting the

          9  attention that is well long overdue.

         10                 First, I would like to tell you a

         11  little bit about our Committee of the Descendants of

         12  the African Ancestral Burial Ground.  Our Committee

         13  is made, which I am Co- Chair and Sister Dicks here,

         14  along with Sister Dicks.  Our Committee is made up

         15  of members, such as Alumbay (phonetic) Grath,

         16  Councilman Barron, the late Sonny Carson, the late

         17  Baba Allenton G., Ross ESP Mastraston, Reverend Al

         18  Sharpton, Minister Farracon, Minister Kevin

         19  Mohammed, Chief Nee Nequay Totusu, from the God of

         20  Chief of Ghana, the Ethiopian Koptic (phonetic)

         21  Church.  We have such organizations such as Black

         22  United Front with Reverend Audry, December 12th,

         23  National Action Network, Patrice LaMamba Coalition,

         24  the Porter Foundation, the United African Movement.

         25  We have historians, doctors, lawyers, teachers,
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          2  Africans from the Motherland, from Canada,

          3  throughout these United States, are members of our

          4  Committee.

          5                 So I do not want you to think one

          6  moment that we were working in a vacuum.  It was

          7  very important to us when we organized that we would

          8  be inclusive of anyone of African Ancestry that had

          9  an interest in the Burial Ground.  And we made it a

         10  point that we would represent the largest population

         11  in our Diaspora.

         12                 Now I just want to say to the City

         13  Council, my biggest grievance with GSA has never,

         14  ever been truthful.  I knew yesterday when I had a

         15  meeting with the Borough President's Office, Mr.

         16  Luther Smith, I was handed this document, this news

         17  release put out by GSA.  And just reading it this

         18  morning, because I was so busy I did not get a

         19  chance, it is still all full of lies and

         20  distortions.  They claim there are 408 remains,

         21  there were 427 remains that was taken from that

         22  grave site.  When they say that they have been

         23  working with us honestly and trying to inform us,

         24  none of that is true.  When they say the interment

         25  is expected in 2003, they do not really mean that,

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  because the stipulations that they are putting here,

          3  that once the research is completed, then they say

          4  they can rebury.  And once all the reports are in.

          5                 They know very well that the research

          6  has been finished since 1998.  They know very well

          7  that they have not paid Howard University for the

          8  research that was done, nor Doctor Blakely who was

          9  the scientific director, they have not paid him for

         10  his work, as of yet.  They know very well it will

         11  take another two or three years for them to gather

         12  all the reports that they were supposed to submit to

         13  the community before they say they can have the re-

         14  interment.  They know very well they have been going

         15  forth with all these plans leaving us out, when I

         16  say us, I mean our Committee, other descendants, as

         17  well as everyone else from the African community.

         18  They know very well they have pitted one African

         19  groups against another, that old divide and conquer

         20  technique, but it has not worked, because somehow or

         21  another we all kept working in spite of.

         22                 Because I tell every African that I

         23  meet the same blood that ran in the veins of the

         24  Africans there at that Burial Ground is in your

         25  body, there is no new blood.  The same blood that

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  ran in the veins of the Africans that built Africa,

          3  brought civilization to this world, is running

          4  through my veins right now. And this is the story

          5  that they do not want us to have.  Since then, they

          6  have even tried to have this, what do they call it,

          7  they are trying to force us to accept this center to

          8  be built on that site.  And as a former member of

          9  Federal Steering Committee, we voted that nothing,

         10  nothing would ever be built on that site.

         11                 After the re- interment, we will have

         12  a landscaper and some kind of memorial installed on

         13  top.  We have to be clear when we go to GSA just

         14  what it is, because they are very tricky, you

         15  understand, and they are falling between the cracks.

         16    Barron, you have experienced it with them.  So

         17  when we go to them, we would like to be part of

         18  whatever, we have to be inclusive and all go as one.

         19    There is material that was written before the

         20  Federal Steering Committee was suspended, and there

         21  was material that they have produced afterwards.  So

         22  very often, somebody will say I just read this by

         23  GSA, this is not the truth.

         24                 I thank you very much for your time,

         25  and your effort, it has been more than a pleasure
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          2  for me to be here.  I am very, very emotional now

          3  because it seems like this was so long in coming.  I

          4  have hit on many doors, and I have kicked a few, and

          5  we still could not get a response.  But this day is

          6  here, and I am grateful for it.  And I thank you

          7  all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Ms. McClean,

          9  before you go, I would like to, if possible, have a

         10  copy of that release for the Committee to have a

         11  look at.  I think it is very interesting that you

         12  brought that up, and we would like to have a look at

         13  it, as part of our ongoing efforts on this issue.

         14                 Also if you have, can you please

         15  provide us with a copy of the Memo of Understanding

         16  that you have, at some point, I think it would be

         17  great for the Committee to have that as well?

         18                 MS. MCCLEAN:  By all means, thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Ms. Dicks.

         21                 MS. DICKS:  I want to thank Brother

         22  Charles and the Council for inviting us to this

         23  meeting.  And of course, my friendship goes way back

         24  with Brother Charles.  I mean we have been arrested

         25  together, and many things have happened to us down
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          2  the line, so he has seemed more like a brother to me

          3  than a Councilman. So if I call him Brother Charles,

          4  he does not care.

          5                 My name is Eloise W. Dicks, I am Co-

          6  Chair with Ollie McClean.  What the descendants are

          7  demanding here, we are demanding that we be

          8  recognized as an integral part of the African Burial

          9  Ground, since we are the only group who put the

         10  African Burial Ground on the front burner.  There is

         11  no other group came up, except us and claimed to be

         12  descendants of the African Burial Ground, is number

         13  one.

         14                 Number two, that the reburial takes

         15  place no later than September 2003.  We do not want

         16  it to go past this year, because it was due in 1999,

         17  and this is ten plus years now that re interment has

         18  not taken place.

         19                 Number three, that the descendants be

         20  recognized as given credit for keeping the African

         21  Burial Ground on the front burner.

         22                 Nothing should be erected on that

         23  site, that site should be left as is, and we should

         24  have complete control as Africans of that Burial

         25  Ground.  I do not think any other race will allow
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          2  anybody else to come in and claim any ancestry, like

          3  GSA has done to us for the past 10 plus years.  And

          4  I think it is time now that we reclaim our

          5  ancestors, that we take control of whatever is going

          6  on with our ancestors.  That the descendants decide

          7  who will be chosen to work in the Museum once we get

          8  to the Museum erected of built, whatever you want to

          9  call it.

         10                 That GSA be punished for ignoring the

         11  written statement of the MOA.  Yes, they cannot get

         12  away with just doing what they want, when they want,

         13  and how they want to do it.  I think they should be

         14  punished.

         15                 That GSA researchers of the higher

         16  university should be stopped immediately, if not

         17  sooner.  They have done enough research, and in 1999

         18  Doctor Blakely, Mac Marks (phonetic), said, the

         19  research was finished, they needed no further

         20  research.  For some reason, GSA keeps playing around

         21  with our ancestors' bones, and I think it is time

         22  that we stop them.

         23                 That GSA must be held accountable for

         24  not informing the community of the whereabouts of

         25  the artifacts that were in the World Trade Center.
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          2  Those artifacts were down there and they said they

          3  were on some truck or something and they did not

          4  know the whereabouts, but they would let us know

          5  when they find out.  We have not found out yet.  We

          6  do not know where our artifacts are.

          7                 Who made the decision to send the

          8  artifacts to Howard University?  They were not

          9  supposedly the World Trade Center, they were

         10  supposed to stay here in New York in the World Trade

         11  Center and be reburied with the remains when they

         12  were buried.  So we do not know anything.

         13                 That every other meeting or hearing,

         14  we should be included.  I understand that they have

         15  had meetings and hearings and we do not know

         16  anything about.  I understand that they are making

         17  decisions on the side that we do not know anything

         18  about. When I called down to Washington, D.C., Mr.

         19  Parrott, does not know nothing, he will not return

         20  my phone calls.  If I call New York here, when they

         21  get good and ready, then they return the phone call,

         22  but that is not frequent.

         23                 So, I mean, all and all, we want to

         24  be included in everything that has happened to the

         25  burial grounds, not excluded from anything.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you.

          4  Before I open it up to my colleagues, I think it is

          5  worth reiterating that I just have a hard time

          6  understanding how GSA in over a decade has not been

          7  able to get this together.  And it just, you know,

          8  makes Council Member Barron's resolution and the

          9  fact that this Committee is holding this hearing,

         10  all the more important.  But I think that seems to

         11  be the major overriding factor here, is that the GSA

         12  has not moved with any diligence on this issue, and

         13  it really boils down to an issue of respect.

         14                 So we will continue to move on this

         15  as best we can. I am going to turn it over to

         16  Council Member Barron.

         17                 MS. DICKS:  One minute, before

         18  Councilman Barron speaks, we also want the meetings

         19  to be held in Harlem, alternate with down here, if

         20  you please?  But we want the meetings in Harlem, not

         21  in Lower Manhattan.  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         23  very much, Mr. Chair.  And I just wanted all of my

         24  colleagues to take a good gaze at these two sisters,

         25  because you do not know what they have been through,
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          2  I mean I kid you not.  The level of disrespect and

          3  battling that we have done with GSA has been

          4  incredible.  And they have been on the front line on

          5  this issue for over a decade, and they have brought

          6  this issue the credibility and respect.  These two

          7  individuals are the reason why we are here today,

          8  the reason why this resolution can read the way it

          9  reads.

         10                 And just to show you, Mr. Chairman,

         11  the level of disrespect of GSA, I had called for a

         12  press conference to be held at the African Burial

         13  Ground site today, and because it was rain, I let

         14  them get away with it, but we are going to go back

         15  and do battle.  And I did not want to tell you all

         16  this, because you all would have went down there and

         17  tore the gate down, and I would have been in jail

         18  with you again.  But they had the nerve, and I gave

         19  them a piece of my mind, but we shall return to GSA,

         20  to say that they will not open those gates for us to

         21  have a press conference at the Burial site.  So

         22  rather than have a few of us angry and going down

         23  there and push it anyway, like I told them I was

         24  going to do, they were probably expecting us, I did

         25  it in the rotunda at City Hall, because of the rain
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          2  and the weather, but we are going back to GSA, we

          3  are going to have that press conference on those

          4  grounds, and they are going to open those gates up.

          5                 That is the kind of disrespect for a

          6  simple little press conference, I am not even

          7  talking about anything hard to do, where you just

          8  open up the gates.  We had to struggle with them on

          9  that.

         10                 So I wanted to say this, you do not

         11  have to ask for inclusion, because I know we said,

         12  we always say we want to be included, we want to be

         13  at the meeting.  And GSA is just going to do their

         14  part to support our meetings, and we will include

         15  them in our meetings on our plans for reburial.  We

         16  are not asking to be included, we are the meeting

         17  and they will be included and provide the necessary

         18  facility and whatever we need to get this reburial

         19  done.

         20                 And so I thank you so much, and I

         21  know Paul is going to beat me up, because I usually

         22  talk about this with him first, but we are going to

         23  honor you with a proclamation at City Hall, because

         24  both of you deserve it, and I am sure my colleagues

         25  will be looking forward to your honor.  So let's
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          2  give them a big hand clap and we will be honoring.

          3                 MS. DICKS:  Let me know when you want

          4  the gate open, it will be open.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I know.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Council Member

          7  Tracy Boyland.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you to

          9  my colleagues, to Council Member Barron for moving

         10  us forward on this agenda.  I commend you ladies for

         11  coming forward, I commend you ladies for all the

         12  work that you have done.

         13                 In any other culture, this

         14  conversation probably would not be happening.  I

         15  think that in anything that you do, you must also

         16  give respect to those that have paved the way, which

         17  is our ancestors.  And again, to be having this

         18  level of conversation, again, is baffling other me

         19  and baffling to probably all of the constituents of

         20  the Central Brooklyn area, who we believe in

         21  heritage, and we believe in foundation, and we

         22  believe that our ancestors has paved that way.  And

         23  we are willing to give our support along with, I am

         24  a neighbor to Council Member Barron, to begin to do

         25  it in an informal way, if we need to begin to do a
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          2  letter writing campaign, as well as begin to gather

          3  people together to fight for the interest of our

          4  ancestors, I think that is just a drop in the bucket

          5  to the push that we need to begin to do.  But a

          6  mobilization, of course, is always necessary.  So

          7  you have my pledge and my support on that.

          8                 It was just a comment that was

          9  mentioned too, one by one of my colleagues, and one

         10  by you, while we are discussing the development or

         11  redevelopment of the World Trade Center, and we are

         12  looking at businesses, and we are beginning to talk

         13  about architecture and design, and we are talking

         14  about all the dollars and cents that need to go into

         15  it, and one fining a memorial for the World Trade

         16  Center.  I think that in some instance as important

         17  as 9/11 was to us, as a country and as a New

         18  Yorkers, I think that the history of the African

         19  Burial Ground is just as important, and as diluted

         20  as it may seem to some, I think that that should

         21  have been thrown in part of the conversation when we

         22  talk about the waterways and the tradeways that New

         23  York City has provided for the slave trade.  And

         24  even documented not by people of color, but by other

         25  offers that have said that, I mean movies have been
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          2  made on the history of New York that have included

          3  people of color.

          4                 But the concern really is when you

          5  talk about divide and conquer is, should there be

          6  some sort of glue that holds us together more so?

          7  And Charles Barron, obviously, has the super glue

          8  that works, obviously, but should there be some glue

          9  that our colleagues, Phil Reed and the rest of us

         10  have to begin to do in order to help you prepare,

         11  and also with Senator Paterson, who when I first

         12  heard of the idea, David was yelling in my ear, as

         13  he was yelling, at the site itself, is there

         14  something that, as homework, as well as putting the

         15  fire under GSA to begin to move and give us

         16  documentation that actually speaks to something that

         17  we want to hear, is there some homework on our side

         18  that we should be getting to do beside the GSA piece

         19  to mobilize and keep that divide and conquer aspect

         20  that you noted away?

         21                 MS. MCCLEAN:  I feel that under your

         22  purview, if you would just do what you are doing,

         23  maybe not just one hearing.  If the word can get out

         24  to the multitudes, because the majority of people do

         25  not understand what is happening.  They think that
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          2  what GSA is saying is so, they think there is

          3  research going on, so why are you impatient?  They

          4  think that you decided that these bones should be

          5  researched, so why are you crying.

          6                 There was a constraint on the time.

          7  I was one member that said no to it.  I was very

          8  passionate about it at that time, and I am just as

          9  passionate now.  I can hardly stand to talk about

         10  the Burial Ground that I do not well up with tears

         11  and everything.

         12                 But if the City Council can continue

         13  to do what you are doing.  I know Mr. Barron has

         14  been a great asset to the burial ground.  Get in

         15  touch with GSA, after they have their meeting, we

         16  should bring them back to City Hall.  Why can't we

         17  do that?  Make them accountable for the lies and

         18  distortion that they constantly put out, because at

         19  that meeting, unfortunately, I will not be able to

         20  attend.  But I know half or more of what they are

         21  going to say, there are going to be distortions, it

         22  is not going to be what the community voted for in

         23  1992.  It was not just one or two people in their

         24  passion of what they wanted, it was a Committee in

         25  place, a federal committee that voted on it, and
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          2  they have not lived up to that.  This is what we are

          3  talking about.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you.

          5                 MS. DICKS:  Yes, this is a song that

          6  also has a handicap, we have no access to the media.

          7    We have to rely on my little brother here, Charles

          8  Barron, to bring things to the forefront.  Without

          9  him, we would be completely lost.  I mean we get

         10  phone calls from LIB and other groups saying come

         11  on, they give you two minutes, they give you three

         12  minutes, but we have no access.  So, without your

         13  input, and without your help, we are completely

         14  lost, we are just fighting and fighting and

         15  fighting, but we are not going to stop because we

         16  are not tired, we are not going to give up, we are

         17  going to keep on fighting.  Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Council Member

         20  Philip Reed has a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Yes, I am

         22  trying to be brief, because I know many of us are

         23  trying to move onto some other Committee hearings.

         24  I guess, the question is directed to the panel, but

         25  anybody might be able to answer it.  What, have we
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          2  not had a conversation with our United State

          3  Senators, or, in fact the President to say what is

          4  going on.  Because GSA does not operate all by

          5  itself.  But I mean, what had Senator Schumer or

          6  Senator Clinton done or not done?

          7                 MS. DICKS:  We have reached out to

          8  Rangel's Office.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  No, Ma'am, with

         10  all due respect, that is my Congressman, I have seen

         11  him three times this week.

         12                 MS. DICKS:  And he said in essence --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I am not

         14  talking about him.

         15                 MR. DICKS: --  that it was not in his

         16  district. I said, but it is in your Borough.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  No, Ma'am, I am

         18  trying to find out specifically about Senator

         19  Schumer - -

         20                 MS. DICKS:  Oh, there was a task

         21  force for Senator Paterson, we were on his task

         22  force.  Senator Paterson decided we were too

         23  radical, he disbanded his task force.  Because in

         24  the beginning, we were Senator Paterson's task

         25  force, then we changed to the Descendants after he
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          2  said that we could no more be considered a part of

          3  him.  So he then disbanded us.

          4                 I wrote, I got letters home to prove

          5  that I wrote the other Congressmen and all, no

          6  response.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  All right.

          8  Well, I guess what this means is that Council Member

          9  Barron and I and others will have to deal with it

         10  with the United States Senators.  I was with Senator

         11  Clinton yesterday, I wish we had this hearing the

         12  day before, but there are plenty of opportunities.

         13  I am just mind boggled that we could have just this

         14  amount of disrespect from a governmental agency.  We

         15  have people that are supposed to make sure that that

         16  does not happen.

         17                 So thank you.  Thank you, Mr.  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

         19  panel.  Before I call up the next panel, while I

         20  have a quorum here in the Committee, I would like to

         21  vote this out of Committee onto the floor of the

         22  City Council.  So I would like to pause for one

         23  moment.

         24                 Of course, we have been joined by

         25  Council Member Alan Jennings, who is a member of
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          2  this Committee.  And I would like to actually call

          3  for the vote now on Resolution 604- A.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Serrano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  I vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jennings.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Mr.

         12  Chairman, I would like to request that my name be

         13  placed as a co- sponsor to this bill?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Sure, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Thank you.

         16  I vote aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Recchia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Weprin.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 6 in the

         22  affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no abstentions,

         23  the item is adopted. Council members, please, sign

         24  the Committee reports.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very
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          2  much members of the Committee, and of course, to

          3  you, Council Member Charles Barron.

          4                 While the Committee members are

          5  signing the report, I would like to call up the next

          6  panel to give very important testimony, Una Leonora

          7  Perkins, Juanita Gore Thomas, and Ayo Harrington.

          8                 MS. PERKINS:  Thank you, ladies and

          9  gentlemen, City Council, I thank you very much for

         10  giving us the opportunity to appear before you.  I

         11  am sorry I have to make my testimony very, very

         12  brief because I have a client waiting.

         13                 My name is Una Leonora Perkins, and I

         14  have been involved with African Burial Ground from

         15  its inception, and I just want, I have lots of

         16  documents that depict 1992 when we really had this

         17  movement going.  And I would just like to read

         18  something, it was a testimony before the

         19  Subcommittee of Public Buildings and Grounds, and to

         20  me, it sort of depicts GSA even back then.  And what

         21  the gentleman, who was Robert R. McDonald, Director

         22  of the Museum was saying, he was saying, I am

         23  pleased to speak this morning in recognition of the

         24  significance of the 18th Century Negro at that time.

         25    We have been called many things, now it is
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          2  African- American Burial Ground, today known as the

          3  African Burial Ground, support of Mayor Dinkins,

          4  request the General Services Administration that the

          5  excavations take place in the site.  And this was

          6  when the GSA was building the federal building.

          7                 And he goes on to say that, the

          8  salvage archeology is sometimes acceptable when we

          9  are dealing solely with cultural artifacts.  It is

         10  inappropriate when handling human remains,

         11  particularly, the remains of people who have left us

         12  little written information of their lives, and whose

         13  history has not appeared in our history books.

         14                 In addition to the spiritual quality

         15  of the African Burial Ground, the men, women, and

         16  children who are buried there are crying out to us

         17  today to listen to their stories.  I feel that it is

         18  true of today, and we have to listen, and I agree,

         19  with what Ms. Dicks and Ms. McClean was saying, no

         20  one has been listening. And I am very happy for

         21  Councilman, also, I am sorry, Charles --

         22                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Barron.

         23                 MS. PERKINS: - -  Barron.  I did not

         24  mean to message up your name.  Okay.

         25                 And I am here to say that a plan
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          2  should be developed for the dignified and meaningful

          3  re- interment of the body remains, that who served

          4  as a memorial to the lives and contributions of

          5  African- Americans.  Such a plan should include the

          6  creation of living memorial in the form of

          7  permanent, educational resources that will use the

          8  artifacts and information uncovered at the site as

          9  an introduction of African- American history for

         10  current and future generations.  And I would like to

         11  reiterate on that.

         12                 I was fortunate and I am very

         13  passionate about it. I was able to go down into the

         14  grave site, and I cannot begin to tell you the

         15  feeling that I had, I could not even describe it to

         16  you.  It was awesome, for want of another word, and

         17  yes, it is true that African- Americans from all

         18  over, because a lot of people did not realize that

         19  Mother Africa spread her wings all over, Latin

         20  America, this country, and all over the world, and

         21  we need to be recognized, and we need to have a

         22  dignified cemetery, not those gates, it looks like

         23  prison gates.  I do not know if you have seen the

         24  grave site, it is a disgrace.  Before it looked like

         25  chicken wire.
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          2                 What is going on here?  This is

          3  ridiculous.  We need to have a beautiful cemetery,

          4  very similar to Trinity Church to depicted the

          5  beauty of men and women who really enslaved and

          6  worked very hard, laid the cobblestones, as you so

          7  ably put it.

          8                 And I am now, well, I have been doing

          9  research.  I am researching a school, was the first

         10  Black girls' school on Clift Street.  I mean we were

         11  all over, this was called Little Africa, as a matter

         12  of fact.

         13                 And again, let me reiterate, I

         14  believe that our bodies are crying out.  Their

         15  bodies are crying out, and we need to lay them to

         16  rest, not next year, it has to be this year, it must

         17  be that way.

         18                 I thank you for the privilege of

         19  having me come and speak, and thank you for the

         20  vote.  And I really have to go, I am sorry.

         21                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Hi, good afternoon,

         22  Chairman Serrano, Council Member Barron, and other

         23  members of the Cultural Affairs Libraries and

         24  International Intergroup Relations Committee, good

         25  grief, that is a mouthful.  I cannot see you now
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          2  because I cannot read with my glasses on.  So I want

          3  to just thank you for convening this very important

          4  meeting, and I want to thank Ollie McClean and Ms.

          5  Dicks for their testimony and for all of the work,

          6  as you described and we know that they have done

          7  over the past, more than a decade.

          8                 My name is Ayo Harrington.  Some of

          9  you know me with regard to my education advocacy,

         10  which included heading the United Parents

         11  Association for a six- year period, and some of you

         12  may know me from my current involvement with WBAI

         13  Radio Program, "On the Count," a program concerned

         14  with criminal injustice issues, including felony

         15  disenfranchisement work that we are very much

         16  involved in.

         17                 However, today I am here as founder

         18  and Chair of Friends of the African Burial Ground,

         19  which was founded in 1998, and which built very

         20  specifically on the knowledge and the work of many

         21  others who came before us, and the purpose is to

         22  make certain, in particular, all those involved, and

         23  particularly GSA comply with the Memorandum of

         24  Understanding.  This agreement, a federal document

         25  was signed by GSA, New York City Landmarks, and the
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          2  Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, three

          3  governing organizations or agencies, agreed to this

          4  document.  The document as a result of the

          5  recommendations, not all of them, but some of the

          6  recommendations made by the Federal Steering

          7  Committee, convened by Congress for the purposes of

          8  determining how to memorialize this project.  So it

          9  is signed by these three agencies, and it is

         10  supposed to govern the work.

         11                 Recently, Friends, you know, I will

         12  not even get into that.  Beginning with the two

         13  community public hearings that Friends held at the

         14  Schomberg for Research in Black Culture in January

         15  and February of 1999, we, like many others,

         16  individuals, organizations, just a couple of people,

         17  whoever it might, have had an adversarial

         18  relationship with GSA.  And there is a very good

         19  reason why.

         20                 Among other things, the Memorandum of

         21  Agreement requires that GSA hold public meetings, do

         22  outreach, specifically soliciting the input from

         23  people of African descent, certain types of

         24  organizations, and from individuals and others who

         25  have made known their interest, period.
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          2                 Further, it requires that the

          3  information gained from this communication be

          4  reflected and used in the development of the three

          5  defined components of the African Burial Ground

          6  Project.

          7                 Finally, of which are, by the way,

          8  research headed by Howard University,

          9  Memorialization and Reburial and Public Education

         10  headed by Doctor Cheryl Wilson.  Finally, it

         11  requires that GSA write and distribute to the MOA

         12  co- signers and make public quarterly reports on the

         13  status, write and distribute and make quarterly

         14  reports on the status of the African Burial Ground.

         15                 At the very least, this is just an

         16  example of how disrespectful they are, and how they

         17  go about violating the MOA. From 1994 to 1999,

         18  alone, GSA issued no such quarterly report

         19  whatsoever, not one single one, and did not say

         20  sorry, excuse me, there was a problem, nothing

         21  whatsoever.  What other group do you think they

         22  would even have the nerve to begin to treat in this

         23  manner?

         24                 Since that time, that is three more

         25  years, during which time they should have issued an
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          2  additional 12 reports.  I know that they have issued

          3  one, and I am told there might be two others.  Well,

          4  12 were due.  So since they have been somewhat taken

          5  to task, they still have not complied.  They also

          6  did not hold one single, public meeting during that

          7  period, no public forums of any kind were held

          8  offering interesting parties an opportunity to

          9  determine what was going on, or to offer us an

         10  opportunity to ask and hold them accountable,

         11  saying, what have you decided, who is involved in

         12  the decision making, or we do not like this, or we

         13  do not like that, or you know, I am not even about

         14  how everything should be, how everything should be

         15  developed.

         16                 What I am about and Francis is about,

         17  is about the fact that the MOA says that there

         18  should be certain kinds of input, and there should

         19  be certain kinds of efforts on behalf of GSA, and

         20  that does not happen, simple things.  So you can

         21  imagine the larger things that they are doing that

         22  we have no knowledge about whatsoever.

         23                 So request for information,

         24  documents, meeting, and planning information, and

         25  for the most part, any kind of request for
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          2  information has fallen on deaf ears.  And this lack

          3  of compliance, not only violates the MOA, again, a

          4  federal document, but it has allowed GSA to

          5  thoroughly corrupt the intent of the MOA without

          6  question whatsoever.

          7                 Making matters worse, during the last

          8  five years alone, GSA has had five different people

          9  as their head "assigned person" to the African

         10  Burial Ground.  At one time having the nerve to

         11  inform me and others that one of their persons held

         12  the title, this is one of their staffpersons.  GSA

         13  is not about the business of culture, they were told

         14  by Congress to do this project, because they

         15  disturbed our remains, our ancestors' remains.  It

         16  is not like they are doing anybody a favor, and they

         17  have the nerve to actually give somebody the title,

         18  Executive Director of the African Burial Ground, I

         19  do not think so, five years, five different people,

         20  alone.  No one seems to understand that their

         21  purpose is to fund and to facilitate the wishes of

         22  the community.  Not to decide what happens with the

         23  African Burial Ground for us and for other people of

         24  African decent or interested parties.

         25                 So as you know, and as Ms. McClean so

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  well put, part of their purpose, you know, a part of

          3  their tactic is to conquer and divide.  So what they

          4  have been doing, is they have been telling one

          5  group, well we are talking with so and so about this

          6  situation, and then they tell another, we are

          7  talking with so and so about the situation, but the

          8  bottom line is we have recently discovered again,

          9  okay, that they are not talking to anyone.  They do

         10  not think that they have to include anybody in their

         11  discussion about what they are doing.  But our

         12  position is they have to include everyone in the

         13  discussion of African descent who has an interest in

         14  this matter.

         15                 And again, this tactic has allowed

         16  them to get away with all kinds of things,

         17  including, again, last year, their attempt to rebury

         18  the ancestors, the remains.  Now no one that I know

         19  of was against reburying the remains, and most

         20  people, specifically the descendants have been

         21  advocating for immediate reburial as soon as

         22  possible.  However, there is, as again, Ollie

         23  McClean well put, there is a spiritual, and an

         24  historical, you know, component to that reburial.

         25                 So you dared say, do not get to go
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          2  and have coffins built in Ghana, and maybe they are

          3  correct and maybe they are not, but we do not know.

          4  But they do not get to decide that, and that was

          5  what they were doing.  They were in the process of

          6  digging holes without the descendants or anyone even

          7  knowing what they were doing.  They had not

          8  contacted one person from Howard University to

          9  Howard Dotson, to the Descendants, to Friends, to

         10  anybody.  We know that the attempt was going to

         11  incur, you know, that they were planning to do it,

         12  but the point is that the involvement in the process

         13  did not occur.  Okay?  So that is the kind of

         14  behavior that they engage in.

         15                 And apparently, I found out by

         16  accident, not by invitation, that they are now

         17  planning for a May 22nd meeting.  Who the heck knew?

         18    So I called them, and believe it or not, for the

         19  first time in about eight months someone actually

         20  took my call, and informed me that this was a

         21  meeting for the leadership, a leadership meeting

         22  about the African Burial Ground Project, and that

         23  they were inviting the clergy and this.  And I am

         24  not concerned with who they are inviting, I am

         25  concerned with who they are not inviting.  I am
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          2  concerned that somebody, and a federal government

          3  agency that is required to behave a certain way,

          4  thinks that it is okay after they have violated the

          5  Memorandum of Agreement in so many ways, that they

          6  continue to have private meetings on a public matter

          7  and be selective about who participates in this

          8  discussion, and I do not think that that is okay.

          9                 Finally, I want to say, and I mean

         10  there are 10,000 examples of their negligence and

         11  their behavior that has violated and disrespect that

         12  I can mention over a long period of time.  But

         13  finally, I just want to say, I have seen the remains

         14  of Howard, all right, I have also, Councilman

         15  Barron, seen the remains in the damp basement of

         16  Tweed Courthouse.  Because you remember, there are

         17  not only those remains, but the MOA talks about all

         18  of the other remains for people who do not know,

         19  City Hall sits on top of the African Burial Ground.

         20  So all of that renovating during the Giuliani

         21  Administration that resulted in the digging up of

         22  bones, were part of the African Burial Ground, but

         23  they wanted to say it was the Irish, it was someone

         24  from some penal institute, anybody but people of

         25  African descent.  But those and other remains dug up
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          2  in the area went into the basement of the Tweed

          3  Courthouse, and eventually they supposedly sent them

          4  to Brooklyn College.  So who knows where many of

          5  these things are?

          6                 I would make some recommendations, or

          7  just give you some food for thought, because

          8  ultimately, my position is, whatever the majority of

          9  people who are serious about this decide, is what,

         10  you know, I and certainly Friends support.  It is

         11  not about one thing or another, but immediate

         12  reburial is a must.  All right.

         13                 There is another issue DNA.  Doctor

         14  Blakely who heads the Research component, extracted

         15  DNA from those remains from which DNA was

         16  extractable.  It is somewhere, I think there are

         17  three, I think,  you can check it out, I think there

         18  are three sets.  And GSA recently tried to contact

         19  the holders, which I think are some African-

         20  American anthropologists, but you can check with him

         21  to make sure, has required that they return the DNA

         22  to GSA. They said that it belongs to them.  Again,

         23  they do not understand, the remains do not belong to

         24  them, the project does not belong to them, and the

         25  DNA and we do not belong to them.
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          2                 If GSA or any government agency,

          3  Councilman Barron, get a hold of that DNA, their

          4  interpretation of it for use later on, as you know,

          5  will be as distorted as any other part of our

          6  history.  And I urge you to use your subpoena power

          7  and all else that you can to make certain that that

          8  does not happen.

          9                 The Office of Education

         10  interpretation, for your information, at one time

         11  they gave out, maybe not what I would like to see

         12  give out with regard to the history to the African

         13  Burial Ground, it is headed by Doctor Cheryl Wilson,

         14  but I know for certain that they have been, that

         15  they have sanitized all of their press information

         16  and everything else that they give out with regard

         17  to the African Burial Ground so as not to be

         18  critical of GSA.  That is not right.

         19                 Nobody said to, you know, people with

         20  regard to the Jewish efforts or the Jewish Museum

         21  you have got to sanitize any criticism of the

         22  government.  No one said it of people of Irish

         23  descent.  There is an Irish Museum, there is a

         24  Native American Museum, there is a Women's Museum,

         25  there is going to be a Comedy Museum.  There is a
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          2  Piano Museum, there is a Folks Museum.  No museum

          3  for people of African descent.

          4                 So it is very dangerous for that

          5  office to remain, or any of these component, to

          6  remain under the jurisdiction of the General

          7  Services Administration.  They have managed to quiet

          8  contractors or consultants hired to do this work,

          9  because they did not have the expertise.  They have

         10  fired people, whether you agreed with or not, it

         11  should never have been their decision to make.  If

         12  someone was to be fired, it should have been the

         13  community's decision to make.

         14                 And basically, I mean, what I am

         15  saying is, is that this project has got to be taken

         16  away from the General Services Administration.  The

         17  should be required to fund it and ten times more the

         18  money that they are using at this time.  But they

         19  need to be held accountable, and just like Ms.

         20  McClean said, they need to be punished for

         21  violating, they need other be taken to task, they

         22  need to be punished, they need to be held

         23  accountable, and they need to pay for the manner in

         24  which they have treated people of African descent,

         25  and how they have disrespected the African Burial
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          2  Ground Project.

          3                 I am going to the meeting on the 22nd

          4  and everybody else should too, but before then,

          5  elected officials, you should jack them up, and they

          6  should be, for what they have done to us as a

          7  people.  The one thing that we can use to evaluate

          8  and determine where we come from and go to a DNA

          9  bank, and all those things, and they have the nerve

         10  to treat and us with such disrespect, it is a crime.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I am just

         13  curious --

         14                 Ms. Dicks, I am sorry, it was Ms.

         15  Dicks who said that they should be punished.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Fine.  There

         17  was some discussion about the Congress, Jerrold

         18  Nadler is the Congressman down here.

         19                 MS. HARRINGTON:  I have contacted, I

         20  do not even want to tell you how many times, I even

         21  have it writing, I have copies of my faxes going

         22  back to 1998, contacting Jerrold Nadler's Office.  I

         23  have not done it in recent years, not one time has

         24  anyone in his office responded to anything.

         25                 MS. THOMAS:  Yes, I have contacted
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          2  him, he answered me, but he told me to see Charles

          3  Rangel.

          4                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Right.  Well he did

          5  not respond to me at all.  I also contacted Hillary

          6  Clinton, and I have also contacted Schumer.  Now you

          7  know there were different aspects about the Burial

          8  Ground.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  All right, I

         10  got it, thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 MS. THOMAS:  I am Juanita Gore

         12  Thomas, and I am a member of the Descendants of the

         13  African Ancestry Burial Ground. I have a short

         14  comment, actually, because they have said

         15  everything, I think, at least for today.

         16                 When they uncovered the bones, they

         17  were supposed to stop digging until there was a

         18  design put in place.  I get emotional, and there was

         19  no design put in place, they should have stopped

         20  until they did that.  That is the first lie and the

         21  first disrespect that they did.  And I guess after

         22  they got away with that, they figured they could do

         23  anything else.

         24                 So what I would like to do, I would

         25  like to call for a Federal Investigation of GSA.
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          2  Short and sweet.

          3                 MS. HARRINGTON:  I think that says it

          4  all.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

          6  much.  I would like to turn it over to Council

          7  Member Alan Jennings.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Thank you,

          9  Ms. Harrington for joining us.  I want to say that

         10  we would love to investigate GSA, but we do not have

         11  the jurisdiction, because we are not federal elected

         12  officials.  So unless Councilman Barron could,

         13  apparently to dissuade his ambition of being Mayor

         14  to the streets, and persuaded his ambitions to run

         15  for the US Senate, then maybe we can get something

         16  done.

         17                 MS. HARRINGTON:  But you can subpoena

         18  them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  We do not

         20  have the authority to subpoena the federal agencies.

         21                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Oh, you don't.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  No, we

         23  don't.  We have the authority to subpoena City

         24  agencies, but we do not have the authority to

         25  subpoena federal agencies.
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          2                 MS. THOMAS:  Who do we see to have

          3  them investigate?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Well you

          5  have to see your Congress members and US Senators to

          6  do that.

          7                 MS. THOMAS:  Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  They are

          9  the ones.  The bill we are doing here today is

         10  actually a resolution where we are asking the

         11  federal government to comply with their

         12  responsibility. But we do not have the authority to

         13  force them to do anything, because it is out of our

         14  jurisdiction.

         15                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Got it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  But the

         17  question I had for you is that what, I mean, just

         18  your opinion, Ms. Harrington, why do you think that

         19  they are not complying with putting together the

         20  reports as they should?

         21                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Well, you know,

         22  there are people like Ollie McClean and Ms. Dicks

         23  who can speak to this better than me.  But I think,

         24  you know, the experiences of government agencies

         25  disrespecting people of African descent is not new,
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          2  I mean it transcends every institution, and every

          3  neighborhood that you can imagine.

          4                 I think, you know, very simply they

          5  thing that they do not have to comply.  This is not

          6  really a part of what, it is not part of their

          7  mission.  They were told that they had to fund, you

          8  know, and oversee, although I hate the use that

          9  word, this project because of the fact that they

         10  disturbed the remains.  You know, and they should

         11  have done the proper research to determine what was

         12  underneath the ground that they were getting ready

         13  to open up, before they did so.

         14                 So I think that they have always

         15  resented the fact that they were told by Congress

         16  that they had to do this.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  But

         18  Congress did the right thing that they must make

         19  these reports, right?

         20                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Well, no.  Congress

         21  required that they follow certain recommendations of

         22  the Steering Committee.  All right?  And between the

         23  three agencies that I mentioned, after reviewing the

         24  recommendations and having a conversation with

         25  Congress, they wrote up what is referred as a
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          2  Memorandum of Agreement, and that Memorandum of

          3  Agreement, which reflects all of that other stuff,

          4  says that there are three components to the African

          5  Burial Ground Project, and these are some of the

          6  things that have to happen, GSA has to oversee it,

          7  they have to fund it, they have to facilitate it, et

          8  cetera, et cetera, et cetera.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Have you

         10  contacted anyone in GSA, spoke to anyone there who

         11  explained to you why they have not submitted the

         12  reports?

         13                 MS. HARRINGTON:  You know, again, Ms.

         14  McClean and Ms. Dicks spoke to their disrespect

         15  going back many, many years. But you know since my

         16  involvement, I have contacted also, the two heads of

         17  GSA in Washington, D.C. Invited them to a community

         18  hearing to ask why they had not complied in an over

         19  five- year period.  It was only because Charlie

         20  Rangel told them that they better come to the second

         21  one, that they showed at the Schomberg to have a

         22  conversation.

         23                 But basically there is no one --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  What was

         25  their answer when they came to, why they have not
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          2  complied with annual reports?

          3                 MS. HARRINGTON:  They agreed, up

          4  front, the second in charge for GSA, I forget his

          5  name, I think it was Miram, said, that they had

          6  failed, they had not complied, they were sorry.

          7  That was not good enough, and that they would do

          8  better going forward. Well the doing better going

          9  forward has resulted in only one in the past three

         10  years, one report.  Okay?  And no public

         11  communications with the community on an ongoing

         12  basis so far as I know.

         13                 They may be doing really good things

         14  right now, so far as I know, I doubt it in some

         15  respect.  But the point is they do not get to make

         16  good or bad decisions without the proper input. And

         17  no other group would have to put up with this crap.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  That is

         19  true.   Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Council Member

         21  Charles Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well I want

         23  to thank both of you for the testimony, and

         24  certainly thank the descendants, and it is good that

         25  the Borough President's Office, Luther, that we are
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          2  all working together now.

          3                 But just for the record, you know, I

          4  just want to correct a couple of things for the

          5  record, but we are all working together now.  And I

          6  think that is what is going to help us gain the

          7  victory that we need.

          8                 But for the record, the descendants

          9  did get GSA to do some things.  And the descendants

         10  did get GSA to do the casket from Ghana.  The

         11  descendants did, we were sitting down with GSA, we

         12  had a series of meetings, we did get GSA to come to

         13  some hearings, and we have held several hearings,

         14  some in Harlem, and they were meeting at my office

         15  when I had Dynamics of Leadership, we had the

         16  leadership of GSA, so we did get them to do those

         17  kinds of things.

         18                 We were the ones that got them to dig

         19  the burial grounds, and they did commit to the

         20  crypts and all of that, and we were planning a

         21  ceremony and everything.  So the internal conflicts

         22  that we have with the groups, and we allowing them

         23  to divide us, stopped the project.

         24                 So I just wanted for the record, to

         25  not think that GSA, that the descendants did not get
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          2  GSA to do certain things, but then it stopped.

          3                 MS. HARRINGTON:  Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And that is

          5  why we are here today.  And it is good that we are

          6  on board, all of us, as one fighting GSA, instead of

          7  allowing them to manipulate.  So you are quite

          8  correct on all the lies.  And I agree with you that

          9  they really need to be investigated and brought

         10  before somebody, somewhere to account for their

         11  behavior.

         12                 But I just wanted to finally say that

         13  I want to thank Chairman Serrano.  We can not tell

         14  you how much we appreciate the fact that he brought

         15  this hearing, and in an expeditious way on this

         16  resolution, which is going to lead to a lot of

         17  action that needs to be taken.  And certainly we are

         18  going to, that meeting is going to be interesting on

         19  the 22nd, just to say the least.  But we are

         20  definitely going to move in a very, strong,

         21  aggressive way to see to that we get the burial done

         22  and have the respect.  And we are going to do it in

         23  unity, and we thank you once again, you are to be

         24  commended.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Barron.  We will continue this fight,

          3  it is very important that this Committee has passed

          4  this resolution so overwhelming.  We send it to the

          5  floor of the Council, where I am sure it will

          6  receive its due support.  And this will be part of

          7  an ongoing effort with the entire City Council at

          8  your side to make sure that this is handled in a

          9  proper and respectfully manner.

         10                 And I would like to thank everyone

         11  for coming here today to lend their insights, for

         12  the record, for the City Council. And especially

         13  thanks to Council Member Charles Barron for being a

         14  voice of social justice and understanding throughout

         15  the City of New York.

         16                 This meeting is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing adjourned at 3:45 p.m.)
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